The Brickwork at Poplar Forest:
Mr. Jefferson Builds His Dream House

TRAVIS C. McDONALD, JR.

Restorers of Thomas Jefferson’s
villa retreat have access to a trove
of documentation revealing the
great architect and builder’s biend
of idealism and practicality.

Introduction

One of Thomas Jefferson’s legacies
was the blending of the ideal and the
circumstantial.! This is certainly true
of his architectural creations, which
had to be translated from the realm
of the ideal on paper or in thought
into practical realities during con-
struction. Jefferson’s work as a
designer, owner, and building con-
tractor provides well documented
insights into late-eighteenth and
early-nineteenth century American
building technology.* Much has
been written abour Jefferson’s con-
struction and reconstruction of his
principal residence, Monticello.
Much less is known of his secondary
residence, his villa retreart called
Poplar Forest.> This article focuses
on the brickwork at Poplar Forest,
and how it relates, as a mature pro-
ject, to Jefferson’s lifelong experience
with masonry (Figs. 1, 2).

Fig. 1. Restored fron: elevation (nortnj, Poplar Forest. Drawing courtesy of Mesick Cohen

Wilson Baker.
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Thomas Jefferson and
Brick Buildings

Thomas Jefferson began his first
CONSTruction management project at
the age of 25 in 1768 with Monti-
cello. For the rest of his life, almost
SIXty more years, CONStruction pro-
jects provided a constant thread
through his many other endeavors:
the remodeling of renral houses in
Paris, New York, and Philadelphia;
the rebuilding of Monticello; the
construction of Poplar Forest; and
the construction of the University of
Virginia. In berween he designed
and specified many other projects,
ranging from public buildings to pri-
vate residences. Quality construc-
tion was a necessity for a man wish-
ing to fulfill his innovative, and even
revolutionary, architectural ideas.
Jefferson railed against the rypical
shoddy wood construction of Vir-
ginia architecture in his 1785 book
Notes on the State of Virginia, which
contained one of the first architec-
tural conservation studies in Amer-
ica. In it he analyzed the moisture
found in brick buildings versus that
in wood buildings.” He hoped to
overcome a prejudice that condensa-
tion made brick buildings less
“wholesome” than those of wood:

A country whose buildings are of
wood, can never increase in its 1m-
provements to any considerable de-
gree. Their duration is highly esti-
mated at 50 years. Every half
century then our country becomes a
tabula rasa, whereon we have to set
out anew, as in the first moment of
seating it. Whereas when buildings
are of durable materials, every new
edifice is an actual and permanent
acquisition to the Stare, adding to its
value as well as to its ornament.*



Through this internationally pub-
lished book, Jefferson set forth his
advocacy of brick buildings, which
he had already demonstrated in
practice at Monticello, his own
stylish Palladian residence.

Bv the time Jefferson turned seri-
ously to constructing the retreat he
had longed for all his life, he was
both mature as a designer and expe-
rienced as a builder.® A visitor to
Monticello in 1796 remarked that
Jefferson “orders, directs and pur-
sues in the minutest derail every
branch relative to” the management
of buildings.” This was certainly
true at Monticello. He sometimes de-
creed that workers were to cease
their work when he was not there to
supervise them.

Jefferson is famous for his con-
stant note taking and compilation of
useful information on all manner of
things, especially construction. For
instance, he recorded in his account
book from the 1770s the cost for
two men and three boys to mold and
burn bricks (7£ / 6s per 1,000
bricks); the amount of lime relative
to brick (15 bushels of lime to 1,000
bricks); the conversion of limestone
to lime (1 bushel of limestone equals
2 bushels of slacked lime); and the
difference of hauling wood and
water to make bricks versus hauling
the finished bricks (54% less weight
to move finished bricks).® Jefferson's
Farm Book noted thar a 4-foot cube
of earth yielded 1,000 bricks; a man
could turn up four to five such cubes
a day at 1£ per cube; 2 man could
mold 2,000 bricks a day with three
helpers; 3,000 to 4,000 bricks make
a kiln eve; each eve needed one cord
of wood; brickwork represented one
third the cost of a building; bricks
cost $4 per 1,000 in Philadelphia;
brickwork required 10 bushels of
lime for every 1,000 bricks in
Georgetown (although he noted that
his own bricklayer used 15); mortar
took 3 hogsheads of water for every
1,000 bricks; and an acre of ground
would vield 1 million bricks for
every foot depth.” The relative cost
of these materials and labor were
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Fig. 2. Restored nortfi-south section, Poplar Forest. Drawing courtesy of Mesick Cohen Wilsen

Baker.

important to Jefferson when trying
to recruirt skilled workers from Phila-
delphia and Washington.

Jefferson’s relationship with his
many skilled workers is an interesting
story in itself. Some of his workmen
were in his employ for twenty years
or more and became like family mem-
bers.!® Jefferson was shrewd enough
to furnish slave apprentices to his
hired craftsmen, making his projects
a virtual building trades training cen-
ter in which he retained, i.e., owned,
the resulting trained labor. Many of
the most skilled workers moved from
one Jefferson project to another, be-
ginning at Monticello, working at
Poplar Forest, and finally working at
Jefferson’s public magnum opus, the
University of Virginia.

Affairs of the government kept
Jefferson away from his preferred
role as on-site construction supervi-
sor. Poplar Forest began while Jef-
ferson was still president. If he
found it hard to supervise the work
at Monticello, it was even harder to
get to Poplar Forest, a three-day
journey from Monticello southwest
to the edge of the Blue Ridge Moun-
tains. Jefferson’s trusted relation-
ships with his workers, both slave
and free, allowed him to carry on
projects long distance. Lerters to
and from the workers provided the

crucial link Jefferson needed to su-
pervise and follow the details of con-
struction. Drawings often accompa-
nied the letters, as evidenced by this
line in a letter to the bricklayer: “Ev-
erything is drawn so plainly that no
further explanation is necessary.”*!
Jefferson’s habitual use of the panto-
graph machine, which produced
copies of his own letters, and the
replies from his literate hired and
slave workers have made Poplar For-
est one of the best documented pri-
vate construction projects of any
time and have provided strong evi-
dence for the current restoration. At
Monticello it helped to have a
trusted daughter and son-in-law to
keep tabs on the work. Daughter
Martha Randolph reported to her fa-
ther regarding bricklayer Hugh
Chisolm’s work at Monticello in
November 1801: “The plaistering at
Monticello goes on, not as well as
the first room which was elegantly
done but better than the 3rd and
forth, the two I think you would
have been most anxious about.”*
This indicated thart even the best
craftsmen could have their good and
bad days. Jefferson could certainly
judge the abilities of a bricklayer by
this ume. He had used no less than
six different bricklayers on the initial
construction of Monticello and at
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least five on its rebuilding in the
1790s, including Chisolm, who typi-
cally did plaster and stonework as
well as brickwork and became the
principal bricklayer at Montucello
after 1800.

Brickmaking

In September 1805 Jefferson directed
Chisolm, then earning $20 a month.
to make the journey from Monticello
to Bedford County and to begin
making bricks for his extraordinary
octagonal house. Fall was the accus-
romed time in Virginia, as elsewhere,
to begin this process. Chisolm him-
self once noted in late October that
“the season for brickmaking [was]
so far advanced.™® Ar Poplar Forest
Chisolm needed ume to locate a
proper brickmaking site, which
would contain both good clay earth
and a ready source of water and not
be too far from the construction site.
Sand would have been the only in-
gredient hauled to the site (recent ar-
chaeological excavations located a
brickmaking site approximately 300
vards directly south of the house,
next to a small creek). Fall wasa
crucial time because narure, in addi-
tion to supplying the materials.
plaved a part in processing them.
Jefferson explained this in a letter to
Chisolm of December 1807 regard-
ing a Monticello project: “prepare
for this by having the earth well dug
and cleaned of stone, at the former
brick yard...in order that it may be
well pulverized by frost. Aboutr mid-
winter it should be rurned over a sec-
ond time and again well cleaned of
stone.” Chisolm responded to Jef-
ferson on February 11, 1808, that
“we have got the earth turn up the
second ume for the Bricks and am
now prepare the vard to lay them
on.” 1

Spring through summer was the
time for the actual making of brick.
The earlier thar bricks were ready,
the longer the season would be for
laying them; as Jefferson pur it, “as
soon as spring will possibly permit,
we must have the bricks moulded
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Fig. 3. Restored first floor plan, Poplar Forest.
The structures in the center of each large
chamber are bed alcoves; the rectangular
form in the center room indicates the sky-
light above. Drawing by Mesick Cohen
Wilson Baker,

and burnt.”** After two firings
Chisolm had bricks ready by June
and July 1808. Wooden molds, like
the “1 pair stock brick moulds™
made by carpenter Reuben Perry for
Jefferson in 1817 for $13, would
have been made for Chisolm’s use.!”
After the winter’s weathering, the
clay would have been tempered by

treading, either with the assistance of

animals or by bare feet. Jefferson
implied that he had used animal
power at Monucello when he in-
qulred of his son-in-law in 1795:
“could you take the trouble of
knowing whether, if I find we have
lost the method of making bricks
without treading the mortar, I can
have Mr. Pleasants’ man, and on
what terms?”*® There is no reference
to which method Chisolm used at
Poplar Forest. After air-drying the
bricks for a week or more, the bricks
would be stacked together making a
kiln or clamp and fired for five days
or more with hardwood.”” The ac-
tual number of bricks made by
Chisolm in the first season at Poplar
Forest is unknown burt judging from
batches ar Monucello, it was proba-

bly between 60,000 and 100,000
bricks. Jefferson recorded in his
Garden Book in 1778 that a firing of
103,000 bricks yielded 90,000 hard,
useable bricks.

Presumably Chisolm’s brickmak-
ing efforts were successful in the
spring of 1806. In June of thart year
Jefferson wrote from the White
House to his daughter Martha that
he would have to go directly to
Poplar Forest for a week or ten days
for “laying the foundation of the
house, which [Chisolm] is not equal
to himself....”?" Jefferson was most
likely referring to the unusual octag-
onal shape rather than the actual
laying of bricks. Recent investiga-
tions revealed a 2.5 degree shift in
the internal foundations of the house,
which may be the physical evidence
of Jefferson’s assistance (Fig. 3).

The second season began like the
first with a letter from Jefferson to
Chisolm in January 1807 instructing
him to “set about digging dirt for
bricks and preparing a cole kill
[sic].”?* The following winter
Chisolm was again instructed, this
time in March, to make bricks art
Poplar Forest. That same year, July
1808, Chisolm reported “we have
burnt the bricks, and a finer kiln I
never burnt in my life, it contains
seventy five thousand.”* This was
the third or fourth batch of bricks,
equaling an estimated 250,000
bricks used at the site.”

Having started laying bricks in
the summer of 1806, Chisolm and
his men had the walls of the house
up to the watertable in June 1807
and the top of the walls finished by
Christmas. Although Chisolm was
capable of doing stonework, he
wrote that he was waiting for the
stone masons to do the “square
room.”** Jefferson had helped with
the foundatons in August 1806; his
next trip to the site was a three-day
visit in September 1807.* By this
time the walls were nearly com-
pleted. During the fall of 1808
Chisolm completed the stair pavil-
ions, the two porticos and their
columns, and the two detached
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octagonal privies. Hugh Chisolm,
his crew, and a separate crew of
rough carpenters had spent the best
part of two years translating into
physical reality one of the most ide-
alistic and personal of Thomas Jef-
ferson’s creations.

It was only in 1809, with public
life behind him ar last, that Thomas
Jefferson was able to spend sufficient
time art his distant property which he
had so frustratingly supervised
through derailed letters, plans,
sketches, and instructions. While the
conception and design of the property
were idealistic, what are the “circum-
stantial” details that were rediscov-
ered through research and a thorough
six-year physical investigation?

Bricks

The sand-molded bricks made by
Chisolm and his workers averaged
8%2 by 3Y2 by 2% inches, ranging at
times up to 9 by 4 by 3 inches.
Their multi-hued coloration —
ranging from orange to purple, with
many shades of reds and browns in
berween — was typical for a late-
eighteenth or early-nineteenth-
century Virginia building.?” The
bricks contained random patterns of
gray-to-black glazing on headers and
stretchers in the wall withour any
conscious effort to either hide or dis-
play the marks from the hardwood
fuel. The only seemingly conscious
effort at colors and placement seem
to be the dark brown five-sided
squint bricks used for the 45-degree
corners of the main house, while the
more red squint bricks were used for
the corners of the two octagonal
privies.?® Otherwise, horizontal
bands and isolated areas of like-col-
ored brick reflected the different fir-
ings and the order in which kilns
were broken down and the bricks
delivered to the bricklayers.

The quality of the bricks at Poplar
Forest was not exceprional for the
time. Monticello’s bricks are mostly
of a better quality; still, Jefferson’s
bricklayer, Richard Richardson
(whom Jefferson had raken to

Philadelphia to acquire skill as a
stone mason and plasterer), asked
that a Philadelphia brick be sent to
Monticello “as a model, and [to]
prove how much too careless our
workmen are in making theirs.”?
Jefferson did not comment on the
quality of bricks or brickwork at
Poplar Forest. However, when
preparing for the construction of the
University of Virginia, he referenced
the qualiry of oil-stock brick in
Lynchburg and in Richmond, pre-
sumably an innovation that came
too late for Poplar Forest.’® In a
letter to Benjamin Latrobe in 1817,
Jefferson wrote “I found your favor
of June 28 on my return hither from
my other home ... near Lynchburg,
the most growing place in America.
They have there the new method of
moulding the stock brick in oil, and
execute it with the most beauriful
brick work I have ever seen.”?! In
recommending some of the Lynch-
burg bricklayers who expressed in-
terest in the University of Virginia
work, Jefferson wrote “I consider it
as the interest of the College the
town and the neighborhood to intro-
duce a reform of the barbarous
workmanship hitherto practiced
there, and to raise us to a level with
the rest of the country.”? A newspa-
per advertisement of March 19,
1819, called out Jefferson’s expecta-
tions for quality materials and work-
manship at the University of Vir-
ginia:
It is proposed to lay about a million
of bricks this season in buildings so
far distinct that the underrakings
may be in one or more portions of
about an hundred thousand bricks
each, the underrtakers finding mate-
rials as well as work, the front walls
are to be faced with oil stock bricks,
the others with sand stocks, the inte-
rior mass to be of plane bricks, all
to be laid with good bond to be
clinkers, and not a single sammell
brick to be used in any part of the
work under a penalty of 5 cents for
every such brick, nor more than 2
bats to 9 whole bricks, the inner
mortar to be one third lime and two

thirds clean and gritry sand withour
any mixture of earth, the ourer 1/2
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lime and 1/2 such sand and the
whole to be grouted with a mortar
of the inner qualiry....”*

Qil-stock bricks were indeed used
for the facades of the pavilions and
for the rotunda at the University of
Virginia.** The side and back walls
and the immediately adjacent stu-
dent rooms were built of standard
sand-stock brick. The facades of the
pavilions and hotels and even the
more publicly visible sides show a hi-
erarchy of Flemish bond, while the
adjacent student rooms and the more
hidden pavilion walls are laid in
three- or five-course American com-
mon bond. The bricks are of a care-
fully selected uniform color, and the
oil-brick mortar joints were struck
and finished with a very fine quality
“ribbon™ joint. These facades also
contain residual evidence of a red-
dish wash and white pencilled joints.
While painted washes and penciling
in Virginia is generally thought to be
a later technique, a reference that
Benjamin Borden was paid for “oil-
ing and penciling down of brick™ on
the initial Rotunda construction
would argue that all the pavilions re-
ceived this treatment originally.*’

Bricklaying

It is almost certain that Jefferson was
disappointed in Chisolm’s bricklay-
ing at Poplar Forest. After his first
and second visits, Jefferson did not
visit again for two vears, long after
the brickwork was completed for the
main house. In the summer of 1807,
when Chisolm had the walls “ready
for the sleepers,” Jefferson called
him back to Monucello “where 1
wish some work done under my own
eve.” This is perhaps a differentia-
tion that the more public Monticello
required the more exacting work and
the private Poplar Forest might be
something less, even if that differ-
ence in quality were due to the ab-
sence of its owner.

Many parts of the Poplar Forest
brickwork are typical of Virginia
buildings: 16-inch (two bricks) thick
lower walls which decrease to 12-
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Fig. 4. This drawing shows the different relationsnio of a Flemish bond exterior meeting 2 Com-
mon American bond interior. Figs. A and B are the Flemish bond meeting an interior stretcher
and header course respectively in the thicker 16" walls of the basement. Figs. C and D are the
same relationsnios of Flemisn meeting neader and stretcher courses in the 12" upper wall.
Note how the Flemish headers in Fig. D are not bonded. Drawing by author.

inch (one and a half bricks) thick
above the watertable. The water-
table consisted simply of a 2-inch
inner and outer ledge created by the
reduced wall thickness; the inner
ledge provided a narrow seating for
the floor joists. The exterior bond is
Flemish but changes to an American
common bond on the interior (Fig.
4), The bond on the inner walls of
the house, which rise up to 20 feet,
change from two-course common at
the second scaffolding level ro three-
course above (Fig. 5); the interior
chimney face walls feature a variety
of bonds, which might be the result
of four flues in each of the four
chimneys.

Jefferson employed three basic
types of arches in the building. The
first appears on the exterior as five
round-headed arches of the south
portico arcade. They are inconsis-
tently keyad and built without any
use of gauged brick.”” This rype was
also used for the two lunette win-
dows of the east and west stair pavil-
ions and the two lunettes and two
clean-our areas in each of the two
privies, and 2 half-round arch
retrofitted in the lower wall of the
west stair pavilion for a privy clean-
out.*®

The second type of arch, by far
the most numerous, is a segmental
arch used for all masonry openings
of inner and outer walls. They were
constructed over solid white-oak
centerings, which remained in place
and acted as redundant lintels.
While the interior doorway arches
are a full wall thickness of 16-inch
(basement) or 12-inch (main floor),
the perimeter wall arches are 8 to 9
inches deep at both levels.*® These
outer wall arches were purely struc-
tural and not visible, hidden on the
inside by plaster and on the exterior
by a 4-inch wythe supported on the
window or door frames. (Fig. 6)
Chisolm acrually had to construct
the window openings without the
finished frames due to their delayed
construction by carpenter James
Dinsmore at Monticello. Chisolm
had to insert rough frames in the
openings once he reached the arch
level in order to support the outer
wythe of brick. Physical evidence
also shows that a vertical board just
under the arched centering was used
as a frame stop for attaching the fin-
ished frames once they were inserted.*

The third type of brick arch was a
flat, or jack, arch used in the 15 fire-
place openings. Helping to support

the flat arches were two parallel
wrought-iron lintels, hidden in the
front by a narrow band of plaster.*’
One additional type of arch, singu-
larly used, was a squinch arch in the
northwest corner of the deep, 20-
foot square center cellar room, sup-
porting the corner fireplace of the
dining room above.

Typical masonry tools and devices
are evident in the brickwork at
Poplar Forest. Trowel impressions
were left in wet mortar; scored lines
on surfaces mark the location for
various trim artachments; and marks

ol

Fig. 5. A typical interior wail showing evi-
dence of the bricklayers preparation for later
wooder trim. This drawing s from a mylar
overiay on & 1" scale photograph, a record-
ing technigue recommended by Lee Nelson
based on his success with this method at In-
dgependence Hall. A is the area of the base,
defined by the plaster ground ghost at E; the
around was held by typical nailing biocks
shown at C and eisewnere; D is the plaster
ghost of the bed alcove wall stud as well as
tne door casing, E shows representative [ine
pin holder marks in the corners; F is the plas-
ter ground ghost for the chair board; G is the
lower level scaffoiding putlog hole; H is the
space of the missing arched centering; | is
the original segmental doorway arch; J is the
upper alcove stud ghost; the door vestibule
area at K did not contain the entablature; L
shows tne representative American Com-
mon Bond pattern which changes above the
upper putlog hole M from & twe- 10 a three-
course bond; N shows scribe marks for nai-
ing at the entablature ground O] and P indk-
cates the joist pockets at 2' on center In the
courses at this 12’ wall level (this inner wall
wenz: up 20). Drawing by author.



from brick hammers and chisels can
be seen on make-ups, closers, “soap
course” bricks, and in some nailing
block holes.** “Line pin” holes are
evident on both the exterior and the
interior walls where line pins were
inserted into wet mortar at internal
or external corners. The levelness of
coursing, however, varies in places as
if no strings or levels were used. The
bricklayers adjusted for such errors
in height, even in visible places, by
using the sloppy practice of laving
bricks up on their stretcher sides.

Chisolm once wrote to Jefferson
of his use of string lines, indicating
that he was taking great care to get
the courses level at the stair pavilions.
Jefferson added the two projecting
stair pavilions, two porticos, and six
doorways to the design during con-
struction. Chisolm afterwards in-
formed him that the pavilions would
be constructed independent of the
principal walls “as the angles where
they join interfear [sic] so much with
the Line that I work by.”** Chisolm
would have done better to have in-
cluded the stair pavilions with the
initial wall construction. Despite
Jefferson’s admonition to leave the
proper spacing between windows for
the stair pavilion, Chisolm miscalcu-
lated and constructed one basement
window in the wrong place and
shifted the opening by chopping out
one side and adding to the other.

“Make-up™ bricks are typically
needed in Flemish bond work to sup-
plement the traditional closer bricks
at openings or corners. To achieve
vertical and horizontal alignment of
headers and stretchers, it 1s often
necessary to break with the estab-
lished pattern to avoid stacked joints
and ensure a better bond. If used
consistently, the adjustments can be
interpreted as a bricklayer’s signa-
ture. At Poplar Forest make-ups
were used in many styles, such as
multiple headers, multiple stretchers,
or shortened stretchers (sometimes
referred to as king closers or “bats™),
with little regard for placement, con-
sistency, or appearance.* Also typi-
cal of eighteenth- and early-nine-

teenth-century Flemish bond work,
the joints were struck top and bot-
tom into a projecting v-joint and
then finally tooled for a straight,
level grapevine joint.*

Wooden trim was attached to the
brick walls by the use of small, pine
nailing blocks. These were not the
typical “nogs” or “wood bricks”
that were generally the size of a typi-
cal brick length and inserted in place
of a stretcher.* Chisolm used nar-
row Y2 by 3 inch blocks, which fit
into a masonry head joint between
two bricks. Evidence suggests that
these blocks were both laid with the
original brickwork and also retroac-
uvely driven into the joints. The
blocks were used for attaching the
exterior entablature and the interior
plaster grounds for casings, surbases,
chair boards, fireplace surrounds,
and entablatures (Fig. 5). Scored
lines on the brick served as refer-
ences when the time came to hit the
small wooden blocks with nails after
they had been covered with trim.

Thomas Jefferson was particular
abour architectural orders, especially
for the most noticeable part: the
columns. In the 1770s the column
bases, shafts, and capitals of the
front portico columns of the first
Monticello were constructed entirely
of stone. In the 1780s he recom-
mended that the stone columns on
the Capitol in Richmond be executed
by workmen from Europe, but these
enormous 44-foot columns were exe-
cuted as brick shafts with stone
bases and capitals. In the 1790s his
difficulty with the re-erection of the
stone drums of Monticello’s east
portico may have convinced him of
the advanrtages of brick. Benjamin
Latrobe, as architect of the U.S.
Capitol, conducted a lively corre-
spondence with President Jefferson
about its design and construction.
Jefferson wrote in 1804:

[W]ould it not be best to make the
internal columns of well burnt
bricks moulded in portions of circles
adapted to the diminution of the
columns. Lt. Burlingron in his notes
on Palladio tells us that he found
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Fig. 6. Window frame isometric. A shows
the 8" arch; B shows the arched white oak
lintei; C shows the rough frame; D shows
the splayea masonry jamb; and E shows the
adiacent chimney mass., Drawing courtesy
of Mesick Cohen Wilson Baker.

most of the buildings erected under
Palladio’s direction and described in
his architecture to have their
columns made in brick in this way
and covered over with stucco. I
know an instance of a range of 6 or
8 columns in Virginia, 20.9 high
well proportioned and properly di-
minished, executed by a common
bricklaver. The bases and Capirals
would of course be of hewn stone.*”

At about that same time Jefferson
was probably turning over ideas
about his villa retreat, and it is not
surprising that Chisolm was told to
run the Poplar Forest columns in
brick, especially since Jefferson
would not be on hand to supervise
anything more challenging (Fig. 7).
Chisolm reported in July 1808 that
“We have made the bricks for the
bases and caprts. of the columns as |
thought it would make a better job
than to have them of wood,”™** thus
indicating thar Chisolm had some
discretion as ro materials.
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Fortunately, whether by ideal
preference or practical necessity, the
Tuscan order chosen for the exterior
of Poplar Forest was the easiest to
execute. Despite Jefferson’s consis-
tent recommendations for capitals
and bases of stone, Poplar Forest
seems to be the first instance in his
own work when he settled for less.
It was not until 1822 that he re-
placed the temporary tulip poplar
log columns of Monticello’s west
portico with columns of brick. His
1821 design for the Charlotte
County Courthouse was in fact justi-
fied as a Tuscan Order because it
was the least expensive to build and
easiest to execute.** While he speci-
fied that the columns at the Univer-
sity of Virginia be executed in brick,
he upheld his ideals there and used
stone bases and capitals, although art
great expense and trouble, for this
legendary didactic example of archi-
tectural orders.*

Hugh Chisolm reported to Jeffer-
son in September 1808 that “we
have also run the columns for the
South portaco [sic] and I think they
will, when finished be elegant.”™ !
Jefferson himself could not form his
own opinion until a year later, when
he came to see the completed shell of
a house. His reaction remains un-
recorded. Recent investigation con-
firmed thar the present columns were
indeed the original ones, albeit with
later rendering, poorly repaired dam-
age, and an extra brick added to the
abacus of the capital. The presence
of some original rendering, however,
calls into question the intended de-
sign and execution of the columns.
The very thin rendering made the
column diameter, versus its height,
unconforming to the proper Palla-
dian modules, which meant so much
to Jefferson and which are evident in
the rest of the exterior and interior
design. Did Jefferson bend the
proper rules as he did with his
interior Doric entablature, or did
Chisolm get it wrong?%* We may
never know. Paint analysis indicated
that the original rendering was un-

Fig. 7. Tuscan capital stripped of its render-
ing, Photograph by author.

painted and simply left the color of
the rendering, making them even
more stone-like.*?

Chisolm was back at Poplar For-
estin 1812 to finish the interior plas-
ter, hauling a “very clean, gritty
sand” from Lynchburg.® Chisolm
returned again in 1814 to construct
a four-room wing on one side of the
house, executing its stone work as
well as brickwork. It is probably
this work to which Jefferson referred
in his Farm Book in 1814: “Chisolm
and two apprentices (one of them a
new beginner) lay 1,600 brick a
day.”s$

The Test of a Well-Built Structure

Jefferson happily used his brick villa
retreat for 14 years, beginning in
1809. Ar that time the walls were
not plastered and much of the final
wood trim had not been applied. It
must have been similar to a 1794 de-
scription of the reconstructed Monti-
cello: “we are now living in a brick
kiln, for my house, in its present
state is nothing more.”** Or perhaps
more appropriate was a 1796 refer-
ence to Monticello: “I have begun
the demolition of my house, and
hope to get through its re-edification
in the course of the summer, But do
not let this discourage vou from call-
ing on us if you wander this way in
the summer. We shall have the eye
of a brick kiln to poke you into, or
an Octagon to air you in.”¥ The
difference, of course, was that Jeffer-
son invited few people to Poplar For-
est. He was accompanied sometimes

by one or two grandchildren after
the house was a little more finished.
He seemed perfectly content to live
in partially completed houses, espe-
cially one providing long-awaited
privacy and peace.

Even with a such a marure, well-
conceived architectural ideal, Jeffer-
son still made changes to the house.
An interesting change took place in
the central 20-foot cube dining room
berween 1809 and 1812, when the
upper mass of the corner chimney
was chopped out, leaving a project-
ing masonry shelf in the corner. It is
interesting to speculate thart this
change took place when Jefferson
visited the completed house, saw
how the corner chimney destroyed
the openness of his cube room, and
ordered his workmen to pull down
the chimney. He could do this and
still use the fireplace because the flue
had been constructed on an angle
through a diagonal wall to one of
the four symmetrical chimneys.*® It
is this diagonal flue which probably
caused subsequent major changes at
Poplar Forest in the 1840s.**

Fire, the devastator of many ar-
chitectural masterpieces, struck
Poplar Forest in December 1845.
Had Poplar Forest not been builr as
Jefferson put it, “as a permanent ac-
quisition™ in brick, it might be but a
vague footnote in history and archi-
tecture. The Cobbs-Hutter family
that took possession of the property
in 1828 looked on the disaster as an
opportunity (Fig..8). As a family
member remarked, it was a chance
to make “some valuable improve-
ments” and to make the house into a
“more commodious”*” and practical
farmhouse. Berween April and Au-
gust 1846 the entire house was gut-
ted and rebuilt in the then-fashion-
able Greek Revival style. Walls were
rebuilt differently, window openings
were lowered or bricked up, door
openings were filled in, and all inte-
rior plaster replaced with fresh plas-
ter. The quality of the construction,
as well as thar of the architecture,
was clearly lower than Jefferson’s



work forty years earlier.?’ On the
exterior, pencilled joints served to
hide the new, reddish-brown wide
mortar joints, Wooden lintels re-
placed the original masonry arches.
Brick nogging, installed by Jefferson
for inner frame walls to help against
fire, sounds, and rats, was not
reused.”” Changes in the 1940s fur-
ther obscured the Jefferson derails
when the house was modernized
(Fig. 9). Acquired as a museum site
only 12 years ago, it has been one of
the most investigated, documented,
and analyzed historic house sites of
this century.®

Conservation of the structure
began in 1993 when the main house
received the foundation thar Jeffer-
son and Hugh Chisolm never pro-
vided. The house had been con-
structed with the brick walls sitting
directly on the ground, except for a
hidden stone foundation under the
north portico on the high side of the
house and the stone wall of the
wing, which Chisolm had con-
structed in a later phase. Digging
our the crown of a hill to make the
house appear lower allowed the soft
brick and mortar to soak up surface
water. The walls settled, marerial
deteriorated, and the portco piers
and columns leaned toward failure.
Supported in part by a Getty Institute
grant, the outer walls and porticos
were underpinned with concrete foot-
ings at the same time that the below-
grade walls were waterproofed and a
drainage system installed. The lean-
ing piers and columns were moved al-
most intact into their original vernical
alignment.** Work began then to
conserve the original brick fabric at
the openings throughout the base-
ment level using a tradinional 1:2 lime
mortar, which replicated the ong-
inal.*® Recreating the ancient process
of beating the mortar has made tor
an even more authentic process as
well as a superior material. Exterior
and interior brickwork is now being
conserved and restored; completion
of the exterior 1s scheduled for the
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Fig. 8. View of Poplar Forest c. 1843, showing the bricked-up windows from the 1846 rebuild-
ing and a surviving upper window opening in a lowered positicn. The roofiine with dormers is

also an alteration. Hutter Collection, Poplar Forest.

Fig. 9. Poplar Forest showing the 1945 cnanges with recpened window openings. Winaows

were lowered about 1" in the wal

uring the 1846 rebuilding and tne tricle sash windows of the

paricr lowered and altered with jib doors. Photograph oy author

end of 1997.%% The principal guiding
philosophy is the conservartion of
original Jefferson-era material in its
original context. Any new work
must have a compatible relationship

with the old and be reversible, if nec-
essary, in the future. Some of
Chisolm’s bricks, taken down and
relaid in 1846, are being taken down
and relaid for the third ume (Fig. 10).
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Fig. 10. Restoration mason Henry Cersley
restoring @ window opening, Photograph by
author.

Jefferson was disappointed at
both the speed of dismantling Mon-
ticello’s brick walls and at the num-
ber of bricks salvaged.®” Salvage at
Poplar Forest runs 95% or higher.*®
Jefferson would have appreciated
our high rate. It is doubtful, how-
ever, that he would agree with our
philosophy to restore the “quality”
of Chisolm’s original work. Surely
Thomas Jefferson, archirect and
builder, would have wanted another
chance to narrow that gulf berween
the circumstantal details of his
bricklayer’s work and the incredible
idealistic synthesis that his final
home represented.

TRAVIS C. McDONALD, J&.. is Director
of Architectural Restoration at Thomas
Jefferson’s Poplar Forest.
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“Mr. Jefferson’s Retreat,” Historic
Preservation (July/Aug, 1992): 42-49,
79-81; and Mesick Cohen Waite,
“Poplar Forest Historic Structure Re-
port,” series of reports from 1990-1994.

67. Jefferson commented in 1796 that
“the walls are so solid that 7 men get
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